**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

Jul 01 2026

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas
For Charleston County
Honorable Michael R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity
Civil Action No.: 2023-CP-10-02281
Appellate Case No. 2025-001775

GRANDE OAKS BOULEVARD ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

PROXIMITY NEIGHBORHOODS MASTER ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Stephen P. Groves, Sr., Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 7854
BUTLER SNOW LLP
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 250
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: 843.277.3704
E-Mail: Stephen.Groves@butlersnow.com

John J. Dodds, III, Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 1707
JOHN J. DODDS, III, LLC

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Found And Concluded The *Corrective Limited Warranty Deed* Excluded The Proximity Neighborhoods Property From The *Grande Oaks Covenants*?
- B. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Found And Concluded The *Corrective Limited Warranty Deed*, Although Recorded on 25 July 2012, Retroactively Modified The *11/16/2004 Supplemental Declaration* Recorded?
- C. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Concluded The Proximity Neighborhoods Property Was Not Subject To Grande Oaks' Annual Assessments?
- D. Whether Proximity Was Estopped To Deny Its Annual Assessments Obligations Due To Proximity's Failure To Previously Challenge The Annual Assessments From 2012 Through 2021?
- E. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Denied Grande Oaks Boulevard Association's Rule 59(e), SCRCivP, Post-Trial Motion?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 11 May 2023, the Appellant, Grande Oaks Boulevard Association, Inc. (“Grande Oaks”), brought a debt collection/breach of contract action against the Respondent, Proximity Neighborhoods Master Association, Inc. (“Proximity”). (R.pp.14-17). Grande Oaks sought to collect from Proximity certain assessments (the “Annual Assessments”) relating to and/or established for “the creation and continuation of the Grande Oaks Boulevard Maintenance Fund for maintaining entrance signs and landscaping and beautification of Grande Oaks Boulevard and Ashley Gardens Boulevard”. (R.p.3, para. 8).¹ Proximity denied the material allegations. (R.pp.18-19, paras.1, 3, 5, 7-8). Proximity later filed an amended response, again denying the material allegations (R.pp.65-66, paras.1, 3, 5, 7-8), but now asserting a declaratory judgment counterclaim seeking a judicial declaration of the effect of the relevant recorded real estate documents on Proximity’s obligation to pay the Annual Assessments. (R.67-69, at paras. 2-9). Grande Oaks denied the counterclaim’s material allegations (R.pp.70-71, paras. 1-6), and asserted various affirmative defenses including, *inter alia*, equitable estoppel and the proposition Proximity was bound by previously recorded documents. (R.pp.71-62, at paras. 7-8).²

On 2 November 2023, Grande Oaks moved for summary judgment asserting the “various recorded Covenants and Restrictions binding upon the [both Grande Oaks and Proximity] require[d] [Proximity] to pay an Annual Assessment[s] to [Grande Oaks] to

¹ Grande Oaks sought to recover \$18,759.00 for the 2022 annual assessment and \$20,718.00 for the 2023 annual assessment, “together with [all] assessments accruing thereafter, late charges, interest, attorney fees and the costs of th[e] action.” (R.p.17, para. 11).

² The parties, by consent, referred the matter to the Master-In-Equity for Charleston County. (R.pp.10-12).

partially fund the maintenance of entrance signs and landscaping and beautification of Grande Oaks Boulevard and Ashley Gardens Boulevard” (R.p.21). Grande Oaks also asserted Proximity “ha[d] failed to pay such Annual Assessments for 2022 and 2023 notwithstanding [Grande Oaks’] timely demand [and, therefore, Grande Oaks] [wa]s entitled . . to judgment against [Proximity] for the total amount of[, among other damage,] the 2022 and 2023 Annual Assessments” (R.p.,21). Grande Oaks supported its motion with various documents. (R.pp.23-51; R.pp.52-64; R.pp.76-78, R.pp.248-252).³

On 13 February 2025, Proximity moved for summary judgment seeking, *inter alia*, a judicial declaration that (1) the Proximity “[p]roperty [wa]s not subject to and bound by the *Grande Oaks [Covenants]*; (2) Proximity [wa]s not required to pay the annual assessment(s) under the *Grande Oaks [Covenants]*; [and] (3) Proximity did not breach the *Grande Oaks [Covenants]* by not paying the 2022, 2023, and 2024 [Annual] [A]ssessments” (R.pp.73-75). Proximity also supported its motion with various documents. (R.pp.246-247).

The Master-In-Equity held a hearing on 17 June 2025, to consider the parties’ respective summary judgment motions. (R.pp.259-296). By order dated 21 June 2025, the Master-In-Equity denied Grande Oaks’ motion and granted Proximity’s motion. (R.pp.4-9). Grande Oaks then moved for reconsideration, *etc.* (R.pp.255-258). By SCRCF Form 4 Order dated 7 August 2024, the Master-In-Equity denied Grande Oaks’ rehearing request. (R.pp.1-3). This appeal followed.

³ On 9 May 2025, Grande Oaks amended its summary judgment request seeking the same relief as before, but also asserting Proximity was required to not only pay the 2022 and 2023 Annual Assessments, but also the 2024 and 2025 Annual Assessments. (R.pp.253-254). This amended motion was similarly supported. (R.pp.79-81).

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Creation Of The Grande Oaks Plantation Development

The modern version of the Grande Oaks Plantation neighborhood is located in the West Ashley area of Charleston County, on land which was believed to have formerly been part of the greater Stono Preserve. Prior to the 1900s, the land was worked by tenant farmers, many of whom were formerly enslaved people and their descendants. The property changed hands on several occasions over the years including Bees Landing, L.P.'s ("Bees Landing") ownership of most or all the land. By deed dated 23 March 1994, Bees Landing, L.P. transferred the property to Bees Resources, L.P ("Bees Resources").⁴ In late October 1998, Bees Resources initiated the genesis of the Grande Oaks Plantation when it filed the *Grande Oaks Covenants*.⁵ Beginning in the early 2000s

⁴ R.p.224, para. 8; R.p.230, para. 8). All the real estate documents referenced herein were recorded in the Charleston County Office of the Register of Deeds (the "ROD Office").

⁵ See Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions – Grande Oaks Plantation recorded at Book P313 at Page 895 (the "Grande Oaks Covenants"). (R.pp.1-2, para. 4; R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.97-103). The Grande Oak Covenants were subsequently amended and/or supplemented several times. See generally Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions – Grande Oaks Plantation recorded on 7 April 2000, in Book M345 at Page 573 (R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.104-113); Amendment to Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions – Grande Oaks Plantation recorded on 20 December 2001, in Book T391 at Page 850 (R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.114-117); Supplemental Declaration recorded on 16 November 2004, in Book G516 at Page 255 (R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.118-121); Supplemental Declaration recorded on 24 November 2004, in Book F517 at Page 574 (R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.122-125); Supplemental Declaration recorded on 25 July 2005, in Book N546 at Page 065, which was later re-recorded on 31 October 2005, in Book J560 at Page 005 (R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.126-134); Supplemental Declaration recorded on 6 May 2005, in Book X535 at Page 375 (R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.126-130); Supplemental Declaration recorded on 16 August 2005, in Book O549 at Page 759 (R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.135-138); and Supplemental Declaration recorded on 6 January 2006, in Book V568 at Page 883. (R.p.23, para. 1; R.pp.139-142). The original document, together with the initial amended version and the supplemental declarations will be collectively referred to as the "Grande Oak Covenants" unless the context requires specific reference to a particular document in the collection.

and pursuant to the *Grande Oaks Covenants*, the land was developed into the current overall Grande Oaks Plantation residential community, the name evoking the area's historical nature while describing a modern suburban residential neighborhood.

B. Grandee Oaks Boulevard, Etc. Maintenance

The main entrance to the Grande Oak Plantation is by way of Grandee Oaks Boulevard. Bees Resources was understandably concerned with ensuring this principal access was maintained in a consistent and presentable manner. Consequently, Bees Resources specifically addressed this issue in the *Grande Oaks Covenants*, noting, in pertinent part, as follows:

3. PRESERVATION OF TREES AND NATURAL GROWTH ALONG PARKWAY

No trees or natural undergrowth upon any portion of the premises conveyed and located within fifty (50') feet of the right-of-way of Grande Oaks Boulevard may be removed by the owner without the written approval of [Bees Resources]. The purpose of this covenant is to maintain the natural appearance and beautification along the right-of-way of the Grande Oaks Boulevard.

- 4. SIGNS:** No signs of any kind or description may be located or displayed upon any portion of the premises conveyed and located within fifty (50') feet of the right-of-way of Grande Oaks Boulevard without the express written approval of [Bees Resources] as to the style, size, materials of construction[,] and exact placement of such signs. [Bees Resources] reserves the right to approve the design, size, style and construction materials of each sign so that signs may be compatible in appearance with other signs along [Grande Oaks] Boulevard. Entrance-way signs and directional signs to each development shall be permitted by the Developer adjacent to the Boulevard right-of-way

(*Grande Oaks Covenants*, pp.1-2) (Bolding in original). Moreover, Bees Resources, using the *Grande Oaks Covenants*, created a funding method to guarantee adequate finances to maintain Grande Oaks Boulevard in a consistent and presentable manner.

The *Grande Oaks Covenants* provided

5. (a) **BOULEVARD LANDSCAPE AND SIGN MAINTENANCE FUND:** The owner for each tract bordering upon or having as its access Grande Oaks Boulevard hereby covenants with the owner of each such tract, and the owner by the acceptance of a deed, is deemed to covenant and agree to pay an annual assessment for a creation and continuation of the Grande Oaks Boulevard Maintenance Fund (the "Fund") as hereafter set forth. The amounts in the Fund received by the Developer shall be used solely for maintaining entrance signs and landscaping and beautification of Grande Oaks Boulevard. Only owners of tracts which border upon Grande Oaks Boulevard or which use the Boulevard for the principal access from Bees Ferry Road to the tract shall have this covenant imposed upon their property.
- (b) **ASSESSMENT AND PAYMENT DATES:** Commencing January 1 2000, and on the same date of each year thereafter, each owner of a tract bordering or having as its principal access from Bees Ferry Road by way of the Grande Oaks Boulevard shall pay to the Developer its pro-rata share of the Fund which shall be the estimated cost of maintaining the entranceway signs and the annual landscape maintenance of Grande Oaks Boulevard. The Developer shall at the commencement of each year prepare a budget based on actual reasonable bids for the landscape maintenance service and costs of maintenance and repairs of entranceway signs. The cost shall include the expenses of management, fertilization, seeding, cutting, planting, picking up trash and debris and all allied costs to maintain and beautify the Boulevard
- (c) **DELINQUENT ASSESSMENTS AND PRORATIONS:**
The assessment herein imposed shall be delinquent if not paid within sixty (60) days after first due. In the event that legal action is commenced by the Developer (or the Association hereafter described) to

collect such delinquency all attorney's fees and court costs in connection with such legal proceedings shall be paid by the owner in addition to any delinquent assessments

* * *

(e) **ASSIGNMENT OF MAINTENANCE FUND TO GRANDE OAKS BOULEVARD ASSOCIATION, INC.:**

It is the plan of the Developer that the authority and responsibility of maintaining the entranceway signs, the landscaping[,] and the beautification of Grande Oaks Boulevard shall ultimately be vested in a non-profit corporation to be organized by the Developer to be known as Grande Oaks Boulevard Association, Inc.[⁶] The directors and officer of the association shall be elected by the owners and tracts of properties utilizing the Boulevard and subject to the maintenance assessment in accordance with the by-laws of that corporation. By this covenant, the Developer reserves the right for itself and its successors and assigns to delegate at such time as it deems appropriate the administration of the maintenance Fund herein established provided, however, that at such time as the Developer has completed to its terminus Grande Oaks Boulevard and has sold two-thirds of the acreage either abutting upon or using for its principal access the Grande Oaks Boulevard, the balance of the unexpended funds shall be paid to [Grande Oaks] and thereafter the authority to collect and administer the assessments herein provided shall be vested in [Grande Oaks] and payments shall be made to [Grande Oaks].

(*Id.*, at pp.2-4) (Bolding in original).⁷

⁶ Grande Oaks was incorporated as a South Carolina non-profit corporation on 27 November 2001. *See generally* Entity Profile - Business Entities Online - S.C. Secretary of State (last viewed on 2 January 2026).

⁷ The Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions – Grande Oaks Plantation recorded on 7 April 2000, in Book M345 at Page 573 (the “4/7/2000 Amended/Restated Declaration”) (R.pp.104-113) added Ashley Gardens Boulevard as a roadway entitled to the same maintenance and upkeep protection previously provided to and afforded Grande Oaks Boulevard. (R.p.23, paras. 1-2). Consequently, the owners of any parcels abutting or using either Grande Oaks Boulevard or Ashley Gardens Boulevard as their primary ingress/egress from Bees Ferry Road were subject to the Annual Assessments from Grande Oaks. (R.pp.23-51; R.pp.52-64).

Given the terms, conditions, responsibilities, and duties contained in the *Grande Oaks Covenants*, the Master-In-Equity acknowledged that it was evident the “primary purpose [of the *Grande Oak Covenants*] [wa]s to maintain the entranceway signs, appearance, and the landscaping along the right-of-way of [both] Grande Oaks Boulevard and Ashley Gardens Boulevard . . . which is [and remains] the entrance [to the] Grande Oaks Plantation [residential development].” (R.p.4).

C. Grande Oaks Succeeds ToBees Resources’ Assessment Rights

Pursuant to the conditions and requirements of the *Grande Oaks Covenants* Bees Resources (*i.e.*, the Developer) ultimately transferred its authority over and responsibility for maintaining the entranceway signs, the landscaping, and the beautification of Grande Oaks Boulevard and Ashley Gardens Boulevard over to Grande Oaks. (R.p.52, para. 2). Undisputedly, Grande Oaks is the entity “charged with the responsibility of administering, enforcing[,] and complying with the [*Grande Oaks Covenants*].” (R.pp.14-15, para. 4, R.p.23, para. 1; R.p.52, para. 2; R.pp.248-249, Answer No. 1).

D. The Proximity Neighborhoods Property

Grande Oaks Plantation has 11 separate neighborhoods in the overall residential development, including Proximity, The Landing, The Commons, Autumn Chase, and Hamilton Grove. On 6 November 2014, Grande Bees Development, LLC (“Grande Bees”)⁸ and The Ryland Group, LLC, by filing the *Proximity Covenants*,⁹ agreed to

⁸ Grande Bees “purchased [what is now the Proximity Neighborhoods] Property from Bees Resources . . . pursuant to a Limited Warranty Deed filed in the ROD on November 16, 2004 at Book T523, Page 116.” (R.p.5). Furthermore, the “Limited Warranty Deed stated that the [what is now the Proximity Neighborhoods] Property was being conveyed subject to the Grande Oaks [Covenants].” (R.p.5).

⁹ See Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for The Proximity Neighborhoods Master Association, Inc. recorded on 10 November 2014, in Book 0439, Page 959

combine certain real estate property in the Grande Oaks Plantation development by filing the *Proximity Covenants* and created the genesis of the Proximity neighborhoods. The *Proximity Covenants*, charged Proximity responsibility of operating, administering, and enforcing compliance with the *Proximity Covenants*. (R.p.5; R.p.15, para. 5; R.pp.23-24, para. 3).

The *Proximity Covenants* described the property Grande Bees “contributed” to the creation of the Proximity Neighborhoods (the “Proximity Neighborhoods Property”) as follows:

ALL that certain piece, parcel, or tract of land, together with any improvements thereon, situate, lying[,] and being in the City of Charleston, Charleston County, South Carolina, shown and designated as "TRACT D2, 310.669 ACRES TOTAL, 97.424 ACRES WETLANDS, 213.245 ACRES HIGHLAND," on that certain plat entitled "SUBDIVISION PLAT OF TRACT D, BEES LANDING, CITY OF CHARLESTON, CHARLESTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA," prepared by Jeffrey Steven Cooper, S.C.R.L.S. 12516, of Forsberg Engineering and Surveying, Inc., dated September 9, 2004, last revised on October 12, 2004, and recorded on October 15, 2004 in Plat Book EH at Page 427 in the RMC Office for Charleston County, South Carolina

(R.pp.15-16, para. 6; R.p.24, para. 4; R.p.189).

(the “*Proximity Covenants*”). (R.p.15, para. 5; R.pp.23-24; R.pp.143-215). The *Proximity Covenants* were subsequently amended and/or supplemented several times. (R.p.15, para.5; R.pp.23-24, para. 3). *See generally* First Amendment to Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Proximity Neighborhoods Master Association, Inc. recorded on 30 July 2018, in Book 0736, Page 423; Second Amendment to Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Proximity Neighborhoods Master Association, Inc. recorded on 4 March 2019, in Book 0780, Page 777; Supplement to Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Proximity Neighborhoods Master Association, Inc. recorded on 1 July 2019, in Book 0805, Page 358; Third Amendment to Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Proximity Neighborhoods Master Association, Inc. recorded on 15 August 2020, in Book 0907, Page 122; and Supplement to Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Proximity Neighborhoods Master Association, Inc. recorded. on 8 March 2021, in Book 0968, Page 252. (R.p.15, para. 4; R.pp.23-23, para. 3).

Almost exactly ten years before the *Proximity Covenants* were filed, Bees Resources filed a supplemental declaration to the *Grande Oaks Covenants*¹⁰ which subjected the Proximity Neighborhoods Property to the obligations and responsibilities set forth in the *Grande Oak Covenants*. (R.pp.104-113; R.pp.118-121). The 11/16/2004 *Supplemental Declaration* provided:

[Bees Resources] does hereby declare, express[,] and decree, for itself and its heirs, successors and assigns, that the property more fully described on Exhibit A¹¹ attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (the "Property")¹² shall be used, held, owned, mortgaged, developed[,] and enjoyed subject to and in accordance the terms and provisions of the [*Grande Oak Covenants*], as said [*Grande Oak Covenants*] may have been amended or may in the future be amended by instrument in writing recorded in the [ROD] for Charleston County, South Carolina. It is the intention of [Bees Resources] to make the Property subject to the [*Grande Oaks Covenants*] as fully and to the same extent as if the Property had originally been described in the [*Grande Oaks Covenants*].

¹⁰ See generally Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions – Grande Oaks Plantation recorded on 7 April 2000, in Book M345 at Page 573 (R.pp.104-113) which was specifically referenced in the Supplemental Declaration recorded on 16 November 2004, in Book G516 at Page 255 (the "11/16/2004 Supplemental Declaration") (R.pp.118-121).

¹¹ The real property at issue was described in the referenced Exhibit A as follows:

ALL that certain piece, parcel, or tract of land, situate, lying[,] and being in the City of Charleston, Charleston County, South Carolina, shown and designated as "Tract D2, 310.669 Acres Total, 97.424 Acres Wetlands, 213.245 Acres Highland," on a plat by Forsberg Engineering and Surveying, Inc., dated September 9, 2004 entitled in part "SUBDIVISION PLAT OF TRACT D, BEES LANDING, CITY OF CHARLESTON, CHARLESTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA," and recorded or to be recorded in the [ROD] Office for Charleston County, South Carolina at Plat Book EH at Page 427

(R.p.120).

¹² The "Property" as described and referenced in the 11/16/2004 Supplemental Declaration (R.pp.118-121) is now the area known as the Proximity Neighborhoods Property.

(R.p.118). The Proximity Neighborhoods Property was made subject to the *Grande Oak Covenants* including the responsibility for paying the Annual Assessments to maintain and preserve both Grande Oaks Boulevard and Ashley Gardens Boulevard. (R.pp.15-16, para. 6; R.p.24, para. 5).¹³

1. *Proximity Is The Largest Collection Of Neighborhoods In Grande Oaks Plantation*

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