RECEIVED

Apr 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Michael R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity
Case No.: 2023-CP-10-02281

Appellate Case No. 2025-001775

Grand Oaks Boulevard Association, Inc.,.....Appellant.

v.

Proximity Neighborhoods Master Association, Inc.,..... Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

COPELAND, STAIR, VALZ & LOVELL, LLP
Douglas W. MacKelcan
S.C. Bar No.: 76332
Taylor L. Cary
S.C. Bar No.: 105136
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
dmackelcan@csvg.law
tcary@csvg.law
Phone: (843) 727-0307
Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE CORRECTIVE LIMITED WARRANTY DEED CORRECTED THE ORIGINAL DEED TO CONVEY THE PROPERTY FREE AND CLEAR OF THE GRAND OAKS DECLARATION

Grand Oaks argues the Master-In-Equity erred in finding that the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed corrected the error in the Limited Warranty Deed and conveyed the Property free and clear of the Grand Oaks Declaration, as amended. **Initial App. Br. p. 16.** Specifically, Grand Oaks argues that the Master-In-Equity’s decision is meritless because Bees Resources had no authority to issue the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed “some eight years after the 11/16/2004

Supplemental Declaration was filed and, in any case, violated the Grand Oaks Covenants as it bound current property owners to higher assessments absent their written consent.” *Id.* Grand Oaks misconstrues that Bees Resources was the grantor of the Property to Grand Bees and, thus, was entitled to execute a corrective deed to correct the Limited Warranty Deed and reflect the true intention of the parties at the time of the original conveyance on November 15, 2004.

Any person interested under a contract may have determined any question of construction arising under the instrument or contract and obtain a declaration of rights, status, or other legal relations thereunder. *See* S.C. Code § 15-53-30. “The construction of a clear and unambiguous deed is a question of law for the court.” *See Gardner v. Mozingo*, 293 S.C. 23, 25-26, 358 S.E.2d 390 (1987). “The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties.” *Chan v. Thompson*, 302 S.C. 285, 289, 395 S.E.2d 731 (Ct. App. 1990). “One of the first canons of construction of a deed is that the intention of the grantor must be ascertained and effectuated if no settled rule of law is contravened.” *See Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 578, 590, 635 S.E.2d 649 (Ct. App. 2006) (internal quotation marks omitted). In determining the contracting parties’ intention, a court first looks to the language of the contract, and if the language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract’s force and effect. *See Williams v. Teran, Inc.*, 266 S.C. 55, 59, 221 S.E.2d 526 (1976); *see also Santoro v. Schulthess*, 384 S.C. 250, 270, 681 S.E.2d 897 (Ct. App. 2009). Thus, “[w]hen a deed is unambiguous, any attempt to determine the grantor's intent . . . must be limited to the deed itself and using extrinsic evidence to contradict the plain language of the deed is improper.” *See Penza v. Pendleton Station, LLC*, 404 S.C. 198, 204-205, 743 S.E.2d 850 (Ct. App. 2013); *see also Gardner*, 294 S.C. at 25 (“The terms of an unambiguous deed may not be varied or contradicted by evidence drawn from sources other than the deed itself.”). The Court cannot take into

consideration the circumstances surrounding the agreement's execution to determine intent when the agreement is unambiguous. *Williams*, 266 S.C. at 59.

Here, the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed, filed by Bees Resources, as "Grantor," and Grand Bees, as "Grantee," is unambiguous and conveyed the Property free and clear of the Grand Oaks Declaration, as amended. **Corrective Limited Warranty Deed.** As such, based on the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed's language alone, Grand Oaks does not have the authority to assess Proximity assessments under Paragraph 6 of the Grand Oaks Declaration. *See Gardner*, 293 S.C. at 26 (finding "[t]he deed is not ambiguous on its face" and "only becomes ambiguous when extrinsic evidence is considered" thus, "the question of the grantor's intent was one of law for the court and the trial judge's construction of the deed on the motion for summary judgment was not error."). Grand Oaks cannot submit any extrinsic evidence to contradict the plain language of the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed, including the Grand Oaks Declaration and any amendments thereto. *Id.* at 25. Moreover, Grand Oaks's argument that Grand Oaks's consent was needed to file the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed lacks merit as the transaction was between Bees Resources, as "Grantor" (and who was the "Declarant" under the Grand Oaks Declaration at the time the conveyance was made), and Grand Bees, as "Grantee."

A. Grand Oaks's Arguments Regarding the Invalidity and Unenforceability of the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed Are Not Preserved for Appeal Because Grand Oaks Did Not Present the Arguments to the Master-In-Equity

First, Grand Oaks's arguments regarding the invalidity and unenforceability of the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed cannot be considered because an argument must be raised to and ruled upon by the lower court to be preserved for appeal.

A great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to

the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.

Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 23-24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004). If an argument is presented to the circuit court but not ruled upon, the litigant is obligated to move for reconsideration to obtain a ruling to preserve the argument for appeal. *Kosciusko v. Parham*, 428 S.C. 481, 506, 836 S.E.2d 362, 375 (Ct. App. 2019).

The preservation requirement is imposed to give the lower court an opportunity to rule properly after considering the relevant facts, law, and arguments. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). This Court noted:

The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is [sic] has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments . . . Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.

Id.

Appellate courts will not reverse a lower court on a ground that was not submitted to the lower court. *Powers v. City of Aiken*, 255 S.C. 115, 117, 177 S.E.2d 370, 371 (1970). After all, the court of appeals is a court of review. *Id.* The purpose of an appeal is to determine whether the lower court did not do something it should have or did something it should not have. *Id.* To accomplish this review purpose, an argument must be sufficiently presented to the lower court so it has an opportunity to rule. *See id.* “An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.” *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009).

Grand Oaks's argument that "Proximity cannot use the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed as a legitimate basis to refuse to pay Annual Assessments" because (i) Bees Resources did not have the right to alter or amend the Grand Oaks Declaration, and (ii) the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed purportedly violates the Grand Oaks Declaration by imposing additional assessments upon owners without their written consent (**Initial App. Br. pp. 16-28**) was not presented to the Master-In-Equity on Grand Oaks' motion for summary judgment, at the motion for summary judgment hearing, or on its motion for reconsideration. *See generally Grand Oaks Amend. MSJ; MSJ Hearing Tr.; see also Mtn. to Alter pp. 1-4.* Furthermore, even if Grand Oaks raised these arguments in its motion for reconsideration, that is too late to preserve the arguments because an issue or argument cannot be presented for the first time in a motion to reconsider. *See Johnson*, 381 S.C. at 177. Since Grand Oaks did not raise to the Master-In-Equity its arguments that the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed is unenforceable because (i) Bees Resources did not have the right to alter and/or amend the Grand Oaks Declaration or (ii) the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed purportedly violates the Grand Oaks Declaration by imposing additional assessments upon owners without their written consent, these arguments are not preserved for appeal and should not be considered by this Court.

B. Even if preserved, the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed is Valid and Expressly Conveyed the Property Free and Clear of the Grand Oaks Declaration Made Effective to the Original Closing Date of November 15, 2004

The Master-In-Equity's Order is not meritless on the grounds that Bees Resources had no authority to execute the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed as the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed corrected an error that was done "through inadvertence" wherein Bees Resources executed the Limited Warranty Deed that "incorrectly referenced that the conveyance was subject to the [Grand Oaks Declaration]," which included the amendment "recorded November 16, 2004 in Book

G516 at Page 225 in the RMC Office for Charleston County, South Carolina.” **Corrective Limited Warranty Deed p. 1.** Grand Oaks has not presented any arguments or evidence demonstrating that the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed is ambiguous or invalid. Bees Resources, the entity that conveyed the Property to Grand Bees, was the correct entity to execute the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed and made the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed effective to the Property’s original closing date on November 15, 2004, to clarify the Limited Warranty Deed’s error as to the parties’ intent. The Affidavit of H. Brown Hamrick attached to the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed attests that the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed was “to correct the description of encumbrances described in a previous deed” and that the “Date of Transfer of Title Closing Date” was “November 15, 2004.” **Corrective Limited Warranty Deed p. 4.**

“A correction deed normally relates back to the date of the original deed, at least as between the parties to the deed. Thus, a second deed correcting the erroneous description contained in a former deed between the parties, as between them, related back and becomes effective as of the date of the first deed.” *See* 26A C.J.S. 212, Deed § 173 (2026); *see also Cox v. Tanner*, 229 S.C. 568, 576, 93 S.E.2d 905, 910 (1956) (finding a second deed valid where the grantor first executed a deed to tract to deceased husband alone and subsequently gave a deed, denominated as corrective, to the husband and wife to “give effect to the intention of the parties”). Therefore, “as long as the original deed is not void for want of necessary formalities, a corrective deed may be issued by the original grantor to more accurately reflect the intentions of the parties to the original deed.” *See Chicago Title Ins. Co. v. Accurate Title Searches, Inc.*, 173 Conn. App. 463, 492-93, 164 A.3d 683, 699 (2017) (citing *Cox*, 299 S.C. at 574-76).

The Corrective Limited Warranty Deed was not an amendment to change the nature of the Property conveyance but was executed and filed to correct an error and accurately reflect Bees

Resource's and Grand Bees' intentions at the time of the original conveyance on November 15, 2004, expressly conveying the property free and clear of the Grand Oaks Declaration, including the supplemental declaration "recorded November 16, 2004 in Book G516 at Page 225 in the RMC Office for Charleston County, South Carolina." **Corrective Limited Warranty Deed p. 1, 4.** Because the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed related back and is effective as of the date of the original conveyance, Bees Resources did not need Grand Oaks's authority to execute or issue the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed. As a result, the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed is enforceable, and the Master-In-Equity's Order must be affirmed.

C. Even if preserved, Bees Resources Did Not Need Grand Oaks's Authority to Execute and Record the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed Under Paragraph 13 of the Grand Oaks Declaration

Grand Oaks argues that once Bees Resources "sold off 50% of the developable acreage at issue both Bees Resources and its successors and assigns, were collectively barred from thereafter unilaterally altering, canceling, and/or otherwise amending the Grand Oaks Covenants." **Initial App. Br. pp. 20-21.** Grand Oaks relies upon the Supplemental Affidavit of Aicko Yves Schumann, sworn to on April 22, 2024, which states that "after 2/3's of the acreage owned by Developer had been sold, which occurred in 2007, [Grand Oaks] became responsible for the maintenance of the entrance signs, landscaping and beautification of Grand Oaks Boulevard and Ashley Gardens Boulevard" to argue that Bees Resources did not have authority to execute the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed in 2012 since Bees Resources' ability and legal authority to change the Grand Oaks Declaration terminated in or about 2007 "when such rights were contractually transferred over to Grand Oaks" pursuant to Paragraph 13 of the Grand Oaks Declaration. **See Initial App. Br. pp. 20-22; Schumann Supp. Aff. ¶ 2.**

Paragraph 13 of the Grand Oaks Declaration, as amended, provides:

During the initial phase of development and so long as the Developer owns more than fifty (50%) percent of the developable acreage along Grand Oaks Boulevard and Ashley Gardens Boulevard or of the tracts using these Boulevards for principle access to the Bees Ferry Road, the Developer for itself and its successors and assigns reserves the right to modify, cancel, alter or change these covenants, provided, in no case, shall the Developer modify, alter or change these covenants in such a manner as to impose additional assessment upon any owner without such owner's express written consent. That at such time as the Developer has conveyed more than fifty (50%) percent of the developable acreage along Grand Oaks Boulevard and Ashley Gardens Boulevard or of the tracts using these Boulevards for principle access to the Bees Ferry Road, the right to modify, cancel or alter these covenants shall be vested in the Grand Oaks Boulevard Owners Association, Inc.

Grand Oaks Declaration ¶ 13.

However, as demonstrated above in Section I.B above, the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed was executed to correct an inadvertent mutual error that took place on November 15, 2004, when the original Limited Warranty Deed was executed by Bees Resources to convey the Property to Grand Bees. **Corrective Limited Warranty Deed.** Grand Oaks was not, and has never been, a party to the Property conveyance in 2004, and it has never been the title owner of the Property. **Limited Warranty Deed; Corrective Limited Warranty Deed.** The Corrective Limited Warranty Deed was not a modification, cancellation, or alteration to the Grand Oaks Declaration's terms, but was a corrective deed filing to demonstrate the parties intended to convey the Property free and clear of the certain encumbrances, including the Grand Oaks Declaration, effective November 15, 2004, before Grand Oaks purportedly took over enforcement of the Grand Oaks Declaration and while Bees Resources was the "Developer" under the Grand Oaks Declaration.

Id.

D. Even if preserved, the Corrective Limited Warranty Deed is Not Rendered Unenforceable by the Grand Oaks Declaration

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